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Greeting from Mrs Anita Meinelt
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April 1945 meant not only the end of the war for Moosburg, but also the liberation of the prisoner of war camp Stalag VII A. The camp is an essential part of the town's history, which until now has hardly been the focus of public interest. It is time to deal with this topic, because after decades of neglect, today's generation perceives its history in an unbiased and curious way. Former opponents have become partners and friends. Integration is a topical political and social issue. Understanding history can help us to become aware of the fragility of these relationships.


Our history is part of the identity of our city, which distinguishes us from other cities. We experience supraregional and international interest with it. I, therefore, see it as a task of the city to support research and documentation about Stalag VII A. My special thanks go to Dr. Dominik Reither, whose work offers us a valuable contribution to this endeavor.


Anita Meinelt


Mayor of the City of Moosburg a. d. Isar


Moosburg, 2015


Greeting from Mr Herbert Franz
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Remembering the past is one thing. To work through the past historically and to get to know it is another thing. Over the past decades, many people in Moosburg have volunteered to collect and archive information about this period of Moosburg's history. They deserve our thanks for their dedication. Many items, writings, reports, photographs, newspaper accounts, eyewitness testimony, even various works of art exist from this period, collected in private hands, the local history museum, on internet sites, and in the Municipal Archives. Many things are subjectively reported; they are individual pieces of a mosaic, which only when put together form a picture. The Stalag Moosburg e.V. association has made it a priority to bring this information together and, thus, make it more accessible.


An essential step in this direction is now the research of Dr. Dominik Reither. For the first time after 70 years, there is now a scientifically-sound account that can serve as a recognized basis for further research and investigation.


I would like to thank Dr. Dominik Reither for his dedicated voluntary professional work. I hope that this brochure generates much interest and attention.


Herbert Franz


Chairman Stalag Moosburg e.V.




Moosburg, 2015


Foreword


A preface is the place to thank all those who contributed to the creation of this brochure: the association Stalag Moosburg e.V. with Herbert Franz, who sparked interest in the history of Stalag VII A and Günther Strehle, who coordinated the layout and financing as part of the "70 Years of Liberation" project; Karl A. Bauer, who provided the pictures from his extensive online archive; the staff of the Regensburg University Library, the Moosburg City Library, the Munich State Archives, and especially the Moosburg City Archives, for its continual support in the research. I would also like to thank my wife, Christine Metterlein-Reither, who critically commented and meticulously proofread the individual chapters. Special thanks go to the City of Moosburg for bearing the production costs.
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Figure 1: Stalag VII A Camp plan





Legend:


Barracks 1-39 allocation 400 men


Barracks 41-54 allocation 200 men


[image: ]Watchtower


Sanitary facilities


The arrangement of the camp allocation had to be constantly changed according to the arrival of POW
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	Transit camp





	Werkhof

	Workshop





	Holz-Kohlen-Lager

	Wood and Coal Storage





	Spiel-Sport-Platz

	Play and Sports Field





	Wäschetrockenplatz

	Laundry drying place





	Lager-Lazarett

	Camp hospital





	Aufnahme

	Reception and registration









1. Introduction


Seventy years after the end of World War II and the collapse of the Third Reich, the period of National Socialism is one of the best-researched periods of German history. But still there are some areas that historians, so far, have not paid much attention. The prisoner of war (POW) system of the German Wehrmacht and the life of prisoners of war in the camps are among them. This is due in part to the fact that the sources are extremely scarce. Extensive files of the Wehrmacht were destroyed at the end of the war or have disappeared. For example, the names of all the commandants of many camps are not even known. In contrast, the source material for the POW base camp (Mannschaftsstammlager) Stalag VII A Moosburg is comparatively good. In addition to the files of military offices, the Moosburg Municipal Archives have also preserved large collections on many aspects of the prisoner-of-war system.


This brochure deals with various issues related to Stalag VII A, such as the construction and liberation of the camp, the care of prisoners, work assignments and leisure time, or prisoners' contact with the general population. The individual chapters do not claim to be exhaustive. Not all aspects can be addressed, and some areas can only be dealt with as an overview. Neither the material in the various archives, nor the secondary literature could be evaluated and considered in their entirety.




2. Choice of Moosburg as location for a prisoner of war camp


"But in 14 days a camp for 10,000 prisoners of war has to be here," Colonel Nepf, the first commandant of the Moosburg POW camp, is quoted as saying in the transcript of a lecture he gave in January 1941.1


Why was Moosburg chosen as the site of a prison camp, and why was the construction so hasty?


Many of the files of the departments involved have been lost, but the events can still be reconstructed relatively well.


Decision-makers and structures


In simplified terms, the decision-making structures in the fall of 1939 were as follows: The highest authority with regard to prisoners of war was the Wehrmacht General Command (Oberkommando der Wehrmacht “OKW”). It was there that the basic decisions were made. At the intermediate level, the commands of a military district were responsible for regulating the detailed issues of the so-called prisoner of war (POW) system and for organizing the camps in their area. The commands of a military district were the central command offices of the Wehrmacht at the level of the military districts. The entire Reich territory was divided into such military districts. Moosburg was located in military district VII (Munich), which comprised the southern half of Bavaria from the Alps to the Danube (northern Bavaria formed military district XIII).2


The individual camps were numbered according to the military districts with Roman numerals, and then the camps within a military district were designated with letters according to the alphabet, in the order in which they were set up. In military district VII there were two POW camps, Stalag VII A Moosburg and Stalag VII B Memmingen. The abbreviation "Stalag" stands for "Mannschaftsstammlager" (base camp) for noncommissioned officers and enlisted men. There were also several Oflags (officers' camps) in the military district VII area, including one in Murnau.3


Principles for the siting of a POW camp


Initially, the mobilization orders of the Wehrmacht in the fall of 1939 designated the northern and eastern military districts, predominantly in the agricultural regions of the Reich such as East Prussia or Brandenburg, for the reception of Polish prisoners. The background to this was that the OKW wanted to use the prisoners for work in agriculture in order to compensate for the loss of German labor due to conscription into the Wehrmacht. Probably because the number of captured Polish soldiers was much larger than expected, the OKW had prison camps set up in other military districts from September 1939 onwards. Therefore, in mid-September 1939, the OKW requested the command of military district VII to determine a location for the construction of a POW camp in the Landshut area. The exact determination was left to the command of the military district. One reason for the choice of a location "near Landshut" could be that this region was relatively central in the military district and close to a main railway line. The prisoners could, therefore, be easily transported by train to the camp and from there to work assignments throughout the military district, especially in the agricultural areas of Lower Bavaria.4


Why Moosburg, in particular, was chosen, however, can be deduced to a certain extent from Army Regulation 38/12 "Service Instructions on Space Requirements, Construction and Furnishing of a Prisoner-of-War Camp". According to these instructions, the supply of water was the primary criterion in the selection of a site. Further criteria were a remote, but nevertheless convenient, location, the supply of electricity, and a hygienically-safe disposal of sewage. The plots should be regularly limited, clear and protected, but agriculturally inferior.5


Colonel Nepf was not enthusiastic about the Moosburg site. In his opinion, "from the point of view of the landscape and hygiene ... the choice of site for the establishment of a camp was hardly to be advocated, but one had 'other sound reasons'".6 However, he does not mention these. The negative assessment of the camp commander could also have been made because he wanted to highlight his achievement and that of his people, namely the construction of a large camp in a short time despite numerous adverse circumstances. The report quoted above is written in a similar tone. The site, however, despite Colonel Nepf's negative assessment, met most of the requirements of Army Regulation 38/12. Irrigation and drainage could be provided at Moosburg. The site was in close proximity to a central railroad line, but was still relatively far from major public roads. It was also secluded due to rivers, woods, and floodplains; moreover, the area of the future camp was at some distance from the city. Land and soil were of rather poor quality agriculturally.


The decision for Moosburg


The records of the then-mayor, Müller, show that the decision to build the Stalag in Moosburg was made within a few days. On September 19, 1939, less than three weeks after the beginning of the war, Mayor Müller noted that on the same day two gentlemen from the Munich local planning office had visited him and informed him that the Munich army administration was looking for a suitable site for a prison camp. An area in the Untere Gereuth between Mühlbach and the city/state forest had been inspected, which seemed suitable because it was far from public roads and had sufficient cover by forest and trees. Thus, it fulfilled the requirements of the above-mentioned army service regulations. Apparently, Mayor Müller was left largely in the dark as he wrote that details would be known in the coming days. After further inspections by Wehrmacht officers, the command of military district determined Moosburg as the camp site after only a few days, according to Mayor Müller's notes on September 21, and according to Wehrmacht records on September 22.7
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Figure 2: Location of the Stalag complex in the city territory of Moosburg (1) Barracks of the guards, (2) Prisoners of war camp





Many prisoners as the reason for the rush


Those responsible in the Wehrmacht were probably surprised by the large number of Polish soldiers taken prisoner within just a few days. Estimates of how many Polish soldiers fell into German captivity vary widely. German reports from 1939 speak of approximately 700,000 prisoners. This figure was also adopted by some of the research community. Other historians assume about 540,000 prisoners, some Polish historians about 440,000.8 These soldiers were captured in the few weeks between September 1 and October 6, the surrender of the last Polish troops. In a very short time, the Wehrmacht had to supply and house a large number of prisoners. In purely mathematical terms, given the standard size of 10,000 prisoners per camp originally planned by the Wehrmacht, between 44 and 70 camps were needed to accommodate the Polish soldiers.9 The excessive number of prisoners not only led to the fact that camps were now also set up in military districts which had not initially been selected for this purpose. Building of these unplanned camps also, had to be done in a great hurry.


The following order shows that the Wehrmacht was overwhelmed by the large number of prisoners: On September 21, 1939, the OKW called upon the military districts to expand the camps to full occupancy as quickly as possible and to make "ruthless" use of suitable public and private grounds. A temporary cramped occupancy with prisoners had to be accepted.10




3. Construction of Stalag VII A


Structure of a POW camp


Army regulation 38/12 precisely regulated the structure and equipment of a prisoner-of-war camp. According to this model regulation for a "standard camp," the guard and office barracks were located at the entrance. This was followed by the ante-camp with the so-called functional barracks for reception/registration, disinfection, fuel, medical care and workshops. In this part of the camp, newly arriving prisoners were searched, registered, deloused, and given an identification badge before being housed in the living quarters of the main camp. The main camp, which according to the Wehrmacht's conception was supposed to hold 10,000 prisoners, was divided into ten groups. Each group consisted of four accommodation barracks for 250 prisoners each and one abort barrack. The individual groups were separated from each other by barbed wire. Two kitchen barracks and one store barrack were to be built approximately in the middle of the camp. The construction and size of the barracks were specified in detail. For each prisoner, 2.5 square meters, and for each guard, 3 square meters of space, were estimated. A double barbed wire fence ran around the camp.11


Army Regulation 38/12 also prescribed a precise schedule for the construction of the camp. After 90 days, the living barracks, the light, irrigation and drainage systems, as well as the roads, were to be built; after 120 days, the camp had to be completely finished.12


However, commanders were advised in Army Regulation 38/5 that camps had to accept prisoners from day one. Only a wire fence was necessary for a camp to go into operation. The fact that initially, these camps could only be provisional facilities, was accepted by those in charge of the Wehrmacht. In the early days, the prisoners were to be housed in tents and makeshift huts, which they were then to convert into permanent barracks themselves.13


Construction of the Moosburg POW camp


In the first months, much of Stalag VII A Moosburg, was only provisional, too. On September 22, 1939, Colonel Nepf, the first camp commander, and several doctors entered the area north of the town for the first time, which had been designated by General Command VII as the location for a prisoner-of-war camp. At that time, the area was still mostly arable land, gravel, soil, and loam, and the fields were still cultivated with cabbage, turnips and potatoes. A swamp stretched out towards the Isar, behind it came woods and meadows. There was only a fertilizer factory, a mill and sheds. These were intended as emergency shelters, among other things. According to instructions from the command of military district, Colonel Nepf and his staff had to set up a camp for 10,000 prisoners within 14 days.14
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Figure 3: Construction of housing barracks





At the end of September, the Reich Labor Service began building the camp. The Reich Labor Service was mandated to build the camp in ten days.15 Considering the detailed construction specifications of the Army Service Regulations, for which the Wehrmacht had estimated a construction time of 120 days, the two aforementioned deadlines could not mean that the camp was to be completely built, but that within 10 and 14 days, respectively, the camp was to be ready to receive prisoners.


The Command of Military District considered the construction of a delousing facility to be particularly important, since the General Command of the Wehrmacht had announced "non-decontaminated" prisoners in poor clothing.16 This was that due to the often chaotic conditions at the front and the poor hygienic conditions in the prisoner assembly centers and transit camps; lice was widespread. The diseases they transmitted posed a real danger of epidemics given the close occupancy of the camps. For this reason, great importance was attached to delousing the prisoners.17


The Reich Labor Service, therefore, erected a makeshift delousing station in a hall of an artificial fertilizer factory. The "delousing station” was comprised of a facility with 16 showers and was completed on October 4, 1939. It was presented as a model at a meeting of camp doctors in Berlin in February 1940. However, it was still only a provisional procedure in the autumn of 1940. Heating for the delousing station was provided by the heating car of a hospital train, later by two old locomotives.18


While the cooking had initially been done outdoor, the Reich Labor Service later erected the kitchen facility. This was 80-by-4 meters in size. Posts were driven into the soft ground as foundations. In mid-October 1939, 25 tents were erected as the first accommodation for the prisoners. Each could accommodate about 200 men.19


Bad weather, especially rain, hampered the construction work from the beginning of October. The mud was half-a-meter deep in places. With these conditions, the camp received its first prisoners on October 19.20


The make-shift condition of Stalag VII A (Moosburg) was not an isolated case. In Stalag II D (Stargard/Pomerania), Polish prisoners had to sleep in tents without straw or blankets until 1940. Other military districts also improvised, accommodating prisoners in factories or barracks: Stalag VI A (Hemer) was located in former barracks, VI D (Dortmund) in the Dortmund Westfalen-halle.21


Problems with the procurement of building materials


So, on September 22,1939, the first materials for the construction of the camp were ordered, among others 100 km of barbed wire and 70 tents of 420 square meters each for 150 men.22 Colonel Nepf indicated that it was quite problematic to obtain building materials and supplies for the operation of the camp. For example, he praised the organizational skills of the head of the Reich Labor Service Unit, who procured iron, cement, bricks, and wood for the construction of the delousing station "without a code number," i.e., outside the official allotment. Colonel Nepf's statements show how chaotic the conditions were in the procurement of materials. "Self-help was the trump card, with us and with others…Steal, rob, murder and do not get caught .... So .... we too acted after some hesitation. If we had not done so, the camp would still be only fields, meadows, swamps and forests today." Although these statements are obviously exaggerated in order to keep the audience of the lecture engaged, two examples used by Colonel Nepf show that even at the beginning of the war, material was embezzled on a large scale, sometimes even within the Wehrmacht. He spoke of front-line troops “stealing” (!) 16,000 square meters of roofing that he felt were destined for Stalag VII A. He also indicated that a railway accident in a small town in Württemberg was faked in order to divert 90 tons of coal destined for Stalag VII A, which resulted in insufficient heating in the camp.23


Need for land


Part of the camp was built on agricultural land. About 200,000 square meters of fields were needed. Those responsible for building the camp showed little consideration for the landowners, who had to cede their land.24 The city tried to provide compensation for the farmers, but this was only partially successful.25 The landowners were immediately notified against signature to clear their fields "without delay".26 This did not work in every case. The Reich Labor Service was not always able to erect tents as shelters for the prisoners as planned in mid-October, because beets and potatoes had not yet been completely harvested.27




[image: ]


Figure 4: Photo from the early days of the camp: In the foreground an already completed housing barrack, in the background tents as preliminary accommodation.





Size of the camp site


Colonel Nepf also reported on the size of the camp (as of January 1941). It extended over an area of 600-by-550 meters. The main road of the camp had a length of 670 meters; in total, the crossroads came to 7,250 meters. The enclosed space of all accommodations, including the commandant's and guard barracks, amounted to 171,000 cubic meters.28




4. Arrival of the first prisoners of war in Stalag VII A on Oct. 19, 1939
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